FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 16 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By—Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 80,477

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

DAVID JAMES NERO,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Joan Fowler, Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar no. 339067 and

James J. Carney Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar no. 475246 Assistant Attorney General 111 Geogia Ave. Suite 204 West Palm Beach, FL 33401

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court. The respondent was the appellant and the defendant, respectively, in the lower courts. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court. References to the record will be preceded by "R." All emphasis has been added by petitioner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by information with purchase of cocaine within one thousand feet of a school (R 372-73). No pre-trial motion to dismiss was filed. Respondent never challenged the charge and conviction in the trial court based on the allegedly outrageous conduct of the Sheriff's Department.

Respondent was found guilty as charged (R 379). The trial court adjudicated respondent guilty (R 387-90). Respondent was sentenced to four years, with a three year mandatory minimum sentence (R 387, 388). Respondent appealed his conviction and sentence (R 336). On August 19, 1992, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed appellant's conviction on the authority of Kelly v. State, 593 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) and Grissett v. State, 594 So.2d 321 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). The following question was certified to this Court:

Does the source of illegal drugs used by law enforcement personnel to conduct reverse stings constitutionally shield those who because illicitly involved with such drug from criminal liability?

The State filed its notice to invoke jurisdiction. This Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and set a briefing schedule.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ι

The opinion of the Fourth District should be quashed, and this case remanded with directions that respondent's conviction be reinstated. The Fourth District was incorrect in holding that the practice of the Broward Sheriff's Office of reconstituting powder cocaine was illegal. Further, even if the actions were illegal, they would not insulate respondent from criminal liability as his right to due process has not been violated.

Additionally, there was no objection at trial on the grounds relied on by the Fourth District. This issue was not preserved and does not constitute fundamental error.

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS WRONG WHEN IT HELD THAT THE USE OF "CRACK" ROCKS RECONSTITUTED FROM POWDER COCAINE IN A REVERSE STING VIOLATED A DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW. ANY ILLEGALITY IN THE MANUFACTURE OF THE ROCKS SHOULD NOT SHIELD THE DEFENDANT FROM CRIMINAL LIABILITY. THERE WAS NO FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

The State requests that the certified question be answered in the negative. The actions of the Broward Sheriff's Office did not constitute the illegal manufacture of contraband. The Sheriff's Office was not acting in an outrageous manner by reconstituting powder crack cocaine that had no evidentiary value into unadulterated crack cocaine rocks for reverse stings.

The propriety of the actions of the Sheriff's laboratory is supported by <u>United States v. Beverly</u>, 723 F.2d 11 (3d Cir. 1983), which held in response to a similar "violation of due process of law claim":

Unlike the entrapment defense, the argument defendants now raise is constitutional and should be accepted by a court only to "curb the most intolerable government conduct." [State v.] Jannotti, [673 F.2d 578 (3d Cir. 1983)] at 608. The Supreme Court has admonished us that judiciary exercise federal should not Chancellor's foot' veto over law enforcement practices of which it [does] not approve." United States v. Russell, 411 U.S. 423, 435, 93 S.Ct. 1637, 1644, 36 L.Ed.2d 366 (1973). We are not prepared to conclude that the police conduct in this case shocked the conscience of the Court or reached that "demonstrable level of outrageousness" necessary to compel acquittal so as to protect the Constitution. Hampton [v. United States] 425 U.S. [484] at 495. n.7, 96 S.Ct. [1646] at 1653 n.7, [48 L.Ed.2d 113 (1976)](Powell, J., concurring). This conclusion, however, should not be construed as an approval of the government's conduct. To the contrary, we have grave doubts about the propriety of such tactics.

<u>Id.</u> at 12-13.

While finding that the tactics used by the government agents in facilitating the defendants' participation in a conspiracy and attempt to destroy a government building by fire troubled the court, it was not a constitutional violation, and was not a violation of due process. <u>Id.</u> The same result should apply here.

This case does not meet the level of outrageous conduct found in <u>United States v. Twigg</u>, 588 F.2d 373 (3d Cir. 1978). That Court found that "the government involvement in the criminal activities of this case . . . reached 'a demonstrable level of outrageousness,'" at 380 because in that case:

At the behest of the Drug Enforcement Agency, Kubica a convicted felon striving to reduce the severity of his sentence, communicated with Neville and suggested the establishment a speed laboratory. The Government gratuitously supplied about 20 percent of the glassware and the indispensable ingredient, phenyl-2-propanone. . . . The DEA made arrangements with chemical supply houses to facilitate the purchase of the rest of the materials. Kubica, operating under the business name "Chem Kleen" supplied by the DEA, actually purchased all of the supplies with the exception of a separatory funnel. . . When problems were encountered in locating an adequate production site, the Government found solution by providing isolated an farmhouse well-suited for the location of an illegality operated laboratory. . . . At all times during the production process, Kubica [the government agent] was completely in charge and furnished all of the laboratory expertise.

Id. at 380-81. Therefore, the finding that the actions of the DEA agents were "egregious conduct" because it deceptively implanted the criminal design in the [defendant's] mind," is limited to the

facts of that case. Clearly, <u>Twigg</u> is not applicable to the facts in the case at bar, since petitioner was not set up or enticed by the police into any criminal enterprise analogous to the criminal enterprise that took place in <u>Twigg</u>. Further, <u>Twigg</u> was limited by <u>Beverly</u>. <u>See also United States v. Tobias</u>, 662 F.2d 381, 386-87 (5th Cir. Unit B 1981).

It should be remembered that respondent did not challenge the charge against him at the trial level on the grounds of outrageous governmental action. Error, if any, is not fundamental. See Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981) and State v. Smith, 240 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1970). Respondent would have purchased the cocaine from someone, whether or not the reverse sting operation occurred. Sheriff Office's actions in having for sale unadulterated reconstituted crack does not vitiate the lawfulness of the reverse Respondent was a willing buyer. sting. As such, any alleged illegality of the actions of the Sheriff's Office would not insulate respondent from criminal liability for his crime. State v. Bass, 451 So.2d 986, 988 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). The District Court erred when it found that the actions of the police created a violation of respondent's right to due process of law. The government conduct was not "outrageous."

Reversal of the district court's opinion is also supported by People v. Wesley, 224 Cal.App.3d 1130, 274 Cal.Rptr. 326 (1990). In that case the defendant argued that the state was prevented, on due process grounds, from prosecuting him because it was the State that sold him the cocaine. The Court disagreed, stating:

While Officer Qualls' possession of the rock cocaine was not legal, defendant's due process rights were not violated by his use of the cocaine in this operation, no matter how or from whom Qualls had obtained the cocaine.

First, the source of the contraband is not an element of the crime (possession of cocaine) with which defendant was charged. 'The elements of the crime of possession of narcotics are physical or constructive possession thereof coupled with knowledge of the presence of the drug and its narcotic character.' (citations omitted).

Second, defendant had no constitutional or other right to purchase only unrecycled street cocaine which had not been obtained by police from another case, or only that which had not been illegally manufactured by police or, for that matter, any kind of cocaine at all regardless of the source. Indeed, all cocaine is contraband, and it is a crime to possess it or manufacture it or possess it for sale or sell it; and possession or manufacture of cocaine is illegal, even when possessed or manufactured by police. (citations omitted). As to the possession by a duly authorized police officer, it is still a crime, but he is immune from prosecution under section 11367 if possession or sale occurs while investigating narcotic But there is simply no way at all in which defendant would have any immunity from prosecution; thus, we fail to perceive any 'substantial right' of defendant that was implicated because of the source of the cocaine.

* * *

In any case, we fail to perceive in what manner the source of the cocaine, or Qualls illegal possession of the contraband would have affected defendant's criminal conduct or would have had a bearing on his due process rights. Further, Qualls' use of the cocaine in this operation, alone, would not constitute 'outrageous governmental conduct."

* * *

Given California, federal and out of state authorities and the record before us we can only conclude that the police activity here did not rise to the level of outrageous governmental conduct which would preclude the prosecution of defendant on due process grounds

274 Cal.Rptr. at 329-32.

Respondent should not be protected from prosecution for

purchase of cocaine within 1000 feet of a school. The source of the drug is not an element of the crime.

The holding below was in error, conflicts with <u>Bass</u>, and should be reversed.

Petitioner notes that six judges, one senior judge, and one senior justice of the Fourth District have indicated their disagreement with <u>Kelly</u> and its progeny. <u>See Kelly v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 1060, 1061 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D1713 (Fla. 4th DCA July 15, 1992), <u>Nero v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D1946 (Fla. 4th DCA Aug. 19, 1992).

CONCLUSION

Based on the preceding argument and authorities, this
Court should quash the opinion of the Fourth District and
reverse with directions that the charge against respondent be
reinstated.