017
FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 4 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,477

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

DAVID JAMES NERO,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

✓
KEVIN J. KULIK
Florida Bar No. 475841
EDWARD M. KAY, P.A.
Trial Lawyers Building, Suite 4F
633 Southeast Third Avenue
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
305-764-0033

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, DAVID JAMES NERO, was the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the Defendant, respectively, in the trial court. The Petitioner was the Appellee and the Plaintiff, respectively in the lower courts. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court. References to the record will be preceded by "R." All emphasis has been added by Respondent.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Opinion of the Fourth District should be affirmed. The Fourth District was correct in holding that the practice of the Broward Sheriff's Office of reconstituting powder cocaine was illegal. This resulted in a violation of the Respondent's due process rights, requiring a reversal of the trial court under State v. Glosson, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1985).

ISSUE

The Fourth District Court of Appeal was correct in holding that a due process violation occurred when the Broward Sheriff;s Office illegally manufactured crack cocaine.

ARGUMENT

The Respondent requests that the Fourth District be affirmed. The actions of the Broward Sheriff's Office were illegal. As stated by the Fourth District in Kelly v. State, 593 So.2d 1060 (4th DCA 1992):

We have reconsidered the issue of the police manufacture or reconstitution of powdered cocaine into "crack" rocks, and we find that the practice is illegal. We hold that the use by the police of such reconstituted "crack" infringed on the appellant's right to due process of law. In other words, the police agencies cannot themselves do an illegal act, albeit their intended goal may be legal and desirable.

Manufacture is defined in section 893.-02(12)(a), Florida Statutes (1989) as:

The production, preparation, propagation, compounding, cultivating, growing, conversion, or processing of a controlled substance either directly or indirectly, by extraction from substances of natural origin, or independently by means of chemical synthesis, and includes any packaging of the substance or labeling or relabeling of its container . . .

(Emphasis supplied.)

Thus, it seems that the statute is sufficiently broad as to encompass the reconstitution of regular cocaine into "crack," or rock cocaine. Depositions of the police chemist supplied with the record in the instant case support our decision that the process of reconstitution constitutes manufacture under Chapter 893, Florida Statutes (1989).

In addition, the Fourth District cited numerous facts which indicated the very grave consequences of the

activity complained above:

We find that the Sheriff of Broward County acted illegally in manufacturing "crack" for use in the reverse sting operation which led to the arrest of the appellant. Even more disturbing is the fact that some of the "crack," which is made in batches of 1200 or more rocks, escapes into the community where the reverse sting operations are conducted. The police simply cannot account for all of the rocks which are made for the purpose of the reverse stings.

Such police conduct cannot be condoned and rises to the level of a violation of the constitutional principles of due process of law. State v. Glosson, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1985). Accordingly, we reverse the appellant's conviction and we instruct the trial court, on remand, to enter an order of discharge. Id. at 1062.

According to Glosson, supra, the issue of whether governmental misconduct constitutes a due process violation is an objective question of law. When the misconduct is sufficiently egregious, the dismissal of criminal charges is required. (See, also, United States v. Twigg, 585 F.2d 373 (3rd Cir. 1978). The correctness of the Fourth District's opinion that the conduct complained of herein was sufficient to warrant dismissal is self-evident.

The Petitioner also complains that the Respondent failed to raise the aforementioned issue at trial. Fundamental error may be considered for the first time on appeal. Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1970). In particular,

when an error is so fundamental that it constitutes a denial of due process, it may be urged on appeal. D'Oleo-Valdez v. State, 531 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1988); Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978); State v. Smith, 240 So.2d 2807 (Fla. 1970).

Since the issue at hand clearly goes to the foundation of the case and the merits of the cause of action herein, said error is so fundamental that it was not error for the Fourth District to consider it on appeal for the first time.

CONCLUSION


Based on the preceding argument and authorities,
this Court should affirm the opinion of the Fourth District.